RECEIVED

Nov 16 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
CHARLESTON COUNTY

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Presiding Judge

Circuit Case No.:2021-CP-10-10-03684

---

Appellate Case No.: 2022-000622

---

Russell Crawford, Appellant

v.

Raymond Babich, Respondent.

William B. Jung, Esq.  
1156 Bowman Road, Ste. 200  
Mount Pleasant, S. C. 29464  
(843) 576-4200  
[Bradjung@msn.com](mailto:Bradjung@msn.com)  
Attorney for the Respondent

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

##

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. MAY THE OWNER OF A TRAILER PARK WHO HAS ACTED IN BAD FAITH AND STANDS TO GAIN AN UNJUST ENRICHMENT FROM AN UNCONSCIONABLE VERDICT OF EVICTING, WITHOUT CAUSE, A 72 YEAR OLD, DISABLED MINISTER, A CIVIL SERVICE RETIREE, WHO HAS HARMED NO ONE DURING THE 24 YEARS HE HAS OWNED HIS LEGALLY UNMOVABLE HOME?

2. ARE THERE ANY LEGITIMATE REASONS WHY THE SUBMITTED EMAILS SUPPORTING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIMS OF BAD FAITH ACTIONS BY THE RESPONDENT WERE NOT READ BY THE MAGISTRATE AND JUDGE WHO RULED ON THE CASE AND CONSIDERED AS SUBSTANTIVE EVIDENCE OF MALICE AND FORETHOUGHT FROM THE RESPONDENT?

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal from an April 26, 2022 Order of Circuit Court Judge R. Markley Dennis, Jr., presiding judge in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas, which denied Appellant Crawford's ("Crawford" or "Appellant") Appeal of an August 10, 2021 Writ of Ejectment issued by Charleston County

Magistrate Amy Mikell following July 19, 2021 Order granting of a Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Respondent Raymond Babich ("Babich" or "Respondent") for such ejectment relief.

### **Application for the Appellant's Ejectment**

From emails between the parties submitted by the Appellant, it appears that the Appellant had a history of requesting assistance through emails from the Respondent (beginning on April 17, 2019) to make attempts to keep the park quiet from the unlawful noises emanating from the nearby Bar and Dance Hall located 365 feet from Appellant's bedroom window.

Respondent refused to assist the Appellant in violation of his contractual obligation to do so. The MHPTA, SECTION 27-40-610 requires landlords to provide a safe environment in the park. Being subjected to sleep depriving sounds is not a safe environment to live in. Instead of assisting Respondent and fellow tenants living closest to the source of the 8 pm to 2 am, 5 nights a week subsonic noises he chose instead to respond with his August 2, 2019, emailed threat:

"I intend to ask the police department if your repeated calling activity could ever have an impact on them responding to a real emergency at this address. If the answer is yes, I have a hard decision to make regarding how to stop you from doing it." Eviction would seem to be a logical step in accomplishing this goal.

This was preceded by an unconscionable action by Respondent when he and the rear neighbor erected an illegal 10 foot tall, 100 foot

long, flimsy, noisy plastic barrier outside my bedroom window in response to my letter offering the neighbor a new dog training collar and instructional DVDs to help quiet their yelping, screaming dog.

When I contacted the Zoning Department to inspect the barrier Respondent called my actions "hostile" and sent the following email on 8/2/2019 11:45 AM, Respondent Ray Babich wrote:

> Mr. Crawford,

> This is relating to the rent increase. It will be minor in my eyes because further hostile activity by you will involve much higher rent increases until your activity changes. I have no problem adding another hundred per month to the one coming, so please don't force the issue...

There may be further rent increases, which I have a history of doing when a tenant refuses to change the activity that caused the increase. You probably know better than I if you will get more increases. A case in point follows. You must stop annoying the next door neighbors at 4675 Montague. He is a valued neighbor to this trailer park...

This was in direct violation of the MHPTA SECTION 27-40-910. Retaliatory conduct prohibited.

(a) Except as provided in this section, a landlord shall not retaliate by increasing rent to an amount in excess of fair-market value or decreasing essential services or by bringing an action for possession after:

(1) the tenant has complained to a governmental agency charged with responsibility for enforcement of a building or housing code of a violation applicable to the premises materially affecting health and safety; or

(2) the tenant has complained to the landlord of a violation of this chapter.

(b) If the landlord acts in violation of subsection (a), the tenant is entitled to the remedies provided in Section 27-40-660 as a defense in any retaliatory action against him for possession. If the defense by the tenant is without merit, the landlord is entitled to reasonable attorney's fees. If the defense is raised in bad faith, the landlord may recover up to three month's periodic rent or treble the actual damages, whichever is greater. If the landlord recovers damages under this section, he may not also recover damages under Section 27-40-760.

(h) Any landlord who acts in retaliation against the tenant for engaging in protected conduct is liable for damages up to three month's rent or treble the actual damages sustained by the tenant, whichever is greater, and reasonable attorney's fees. Nothing in this section may be construed to prohibit an action for damages after a landlord has recovered possession of the dwelling unit in subsection (c), provided the ejectment was primarily in retaliation against the tenant's protected conduct.

This email was soon followed by one the Respondent sent on November 17, 2019, that read:

"Please see the attached, which is your reply to my request and or demand that you do not involve 4675 Montague in any of your activities, whatever they are. You received this warning, and then it appears you called city officials regarding their fence line. I first demand that you immediately cease annoying neighbors in the trailer park and the neighbor at 4675.

I have absolutely no problem raising your rent to \$300 plus water and if that does not fix the situation, maybe 350 or 400 will. You need to understand there are limits to what you can get away with at the detriment of your neighbors.

I again urge you to consider moving to a rural area where the problems you have with neighbors will not occur.

If I have to force the issue to 500 a month or eviction, I will, and I have done so in the past when I cannot reason with people...

This is your final warning. Do not annoy any neighbor."

Thirty days later I appeared in court in an eviction procedure where I spent the full 30 minutes allotted to me reading the harassing emails the Respondent sent to me. Magistrate Mikell ruled in my favor but recommended to the Respondent that he try again using the 30-day written notice clause as his reason for eviction.

Why would she later not rule in his favor?

On August 7, 2020, after a hearing before Magistrate Mikell where I was not allowed to defend my actions for not paying the punitive

rent increases, she gave an order that I should, adding: "After hearing the testimony of the parties and reviewing the documentary evidence submitted by the parties, the court orders Defendant to pay..." This statement was patently false, and I have an audio recording of the session as proof as well as the courts' recording.

To reiterate, she was well aware of the contents of the emails Respondent sent to me read to her during the December 17, 2019, first eviction hearing, showing he was in direct violation of MHPTA SECTION 27-40-910.

Counsel for the Respondent stated in his reply to my initial brief, "In granting leave to seek a Writ of Ejectment, the Magistrate also considered that Crawford's second argument that under MHPTA Section 27-47-220, a manufactured home park owner was obligated to act in good faith and that certain emails between the parties allegedly showed Babich's repeated bad faith actions over the course of Appellant Crawford's tenancy. *id.* The Magistrate ruled that she was not making any finding as to whether Babich had shown bad faith in seeking an ejectment.

This, of course, was willful negligence in not choosing to recall all the email evidence read during open court during the first December 17, 2019, eviction hearing.

### **The Circuit Court Appeal**

After the Writ of Ejectment was issued on August 10, 2021, Appellant filed an appeal that was heard on April 19, 2022, a scant 6 months later, after a huge backlog of cases was created due to the pandemic

shutdown. Appellant never located the scheduled listing of this hearing on the Court's website which seemed awfully suspicious, as though someone tried to fast track this case.

The hearing lasted a scant 5 minutes where my attorney had barely begun to speak before late-arriving Respondent appeared, engaged the Judge in pleasantries after which he made his ruling to uphold the eviction order.

It was of little wonder to the Appellant that no recording of the session could be located by the clerk. \*

---

\* The Designation of Matters to be included in the Record on Appeal submitted by Appellant does not list the transcript from the appeal hearing before Judge Dennis due to the Clerk's repeated inability to locate it. Emails will be provided as proof.

### **DISPUTE OF RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Appellant does not admit and disputes the Respondent's following contentions:

1. That Appellant can move his mobile home without a governmental permit.
2. That Appellant can obtain a permit to move his manufactured home if a governmental permit to move said property is required.
3. That prohibitive moving costs would not allow Appellant to afford the unnecessary moving of the manufactured home; and

4. All the allegations Appellant made doubting a pool of 50 potential jurors had been summoned to appear before the verdict was rendered, some 16 hours before the scheduled jury trial were quite likely true.

Although proof cannot be supplied by the Appellant regarding this belief, a thorough investigation by SLED agents should be able to reveal the truth of the matter, if it is deemed necessary in reaching a determination of Magisterial misconduct while in Office.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review will rest upon commonsense reasoning based upon the evidence presented and the moral conscience of the Justices, and not on a narrow interpretation of an insufficiently addressed technicality in law that cannot be applied in this case. What is morally wrong and ethically unconscionable cannot stand as being legally right.

#### **DESIGNATION OF MATTER TO BE INCLUDED IN THE RECORD ON APPEAL**

Appellant proposes the following be included in the Record on Appeal:

1. Index and Contents of Emails previously submitted as evidence
2. Index and Contents of Judicial Rulings in Chronological Order.
3. Index and Contents of Appellant's Counsel's Relevant Emails regarding his incompetence in oral argument and giving legal advice over an illegal lease.

4. Index and Contents of Respondent's Relevant Emails prior to the July 17, 2021, eviction order.
5. Index and Contents of Respondent's Relevant Emails since the July 17, 2021, eviction order was issued.
6. Appellant's' Exhibits 1-7 of Photos of Home and Illegal Fence.

I certify that this designation contains no matter which is irrelevant to this appeal.

November 16, 2022 /s/ Russell T. Crawford  
Russell T Crawford  
4683 West Montague Avenue  
Lot 3  
North Charleston, S. C. 29418  
(843) 870-3240

### **CONCLUSION**

The preponderance of the submitted email evidence will show Respondent has not acted in good faith towards Appellant with his sending repeated, harassing emails, refusing to assist in preventing unnecessary, unlawful and disturbing outside noises from entering the park, constructing an illegal, freedom denying, noise producing bedroom window barrier to the sun, and penalizing Appellant with multiple punitive rent increases for the Appellant seeking legally approved remedies for these denials of his Constitutionally protected Freedoms which resulted in the two attempts at eviction.

The forty-three-month history of Respondents illegal actions towards Appellant have proved most harmful to the Appellants mental, emotional, physical, and psychological well-being resulting in the formation of recently discovered painful stomach ulcers.

For the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the decision of the Circuit Court should be annulled.