THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
CHARLESTON COUNTY

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Presiding Judge

Circuit Case No.: 2021-CP-10-03684

RECEIVED

APR 20 2023

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2022-000622

RUSSELL CRAWFORD,)
)
Appellant,)
)
vs.)
)
RAYMOND BABICH,)
)
Respondent .)

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

William B. Jung, Esq.
1156 Bowman Road, Ste. 200
Mount Pleasant, S.C. 29464
(843) 576-4200
Bradjung@msn.com

Attorney for the Respondent
Raymond Babich

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. MAY THE OWNER OF A TRAILER LOCATED WITHIN A MOBILE HOME PARK BE EJECTED FROM A PARCEL OWNED BY THE TRAILER PARK OWNER FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OF A MONTH TO MONTH TENANCY AND UPON ISSUANCE OF WRITTEN 30-DAY NOTICE TO QUIT?
2. ARE THERE ANY OTHER GROUNDS APPEARING IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THE AFFIRMANCE OF THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DECISION AND RULING UNDER SCACR 220(c)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an April 26, 2022 Order of Circuit Court Judge R. Markley Dennis, Jr., presiding judge in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas, which denied Appellant Russell Crawford's ("Crawford" or "Appellant") Appeal of an August 10, 2021 Writ of Ejectment issued by Charleston County Magistrate Amy J. Mikell following a July 19, 2021 Order granting of a Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Respondent Raymond Babich ("Babich" or Respondent) for such ejectment relief.

The Parties' Lease

Appellant Crawford is an individual who owns a trailer situated on a parcel of land known as "Lot 3" that is within a manufactured home park located at 4683 West Montague Avenue in North Charleston, South Carolina owned and operated by Respondent Babich. Record on Appeal ("R.") at 26, 56-57. Crawford and the prior owner of the manufacturer home park, West Star Mobile Home Park, entered into a "Rental Agreement," dated March 1, 1998 to "[E]stablish a month to month tenancy, commencing on March 1, 1998 (the "Lease"). R. at pp. 60-61. This Lease expressly provided that "It is mutually agreed that either party may terminate this tenancy by giving the other party thirty (30) written notice thereof ...". R. at p. 61.

Application for Appellant's Ejectment

From emails between the parties submitted by the Appellant, it appears that the Appellant had a history of making complaints leading to disputes with his neighbors over what the Appellant considered excessive noise levels. R. at pp. 26, 14-19. On March 17, 2020, Babich emailed Crawford notice that "This is notice your tenancy, including both you and your mobile home trailer, is being ended as of May 1, 2020." R. at p. 22.

On July 15, 2020, Babich filed an Application for Ejectment with the Charleston County Magistrate Court. R. at p. 6. In response, Crawford appeared by counsel and filed a Motion for Summary Judgment to dismiss Babich's Application for Ejectment. R. at pp. 40-42. The basis for summary judgment was that Crawford's month to month tenancy, which was governed under the Manufactured Home Park Tenancy Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 27-47-10, *et seq.* (the "MHPTA"), could not be terminated as a matter of law because the expiration of a lease term is not grounds to terminate a tenancy otherwise subject to the MHPTA. R. at p. 41.

The Magistrate Court Orders

A hearing on Crawford's Motion for Summary Judgment was had on June 6, 2022, and, on this day, Babich filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on his claim for ejectment. R. at p. 6. Following allowances for the parties' briefing and oral argument, Magistrate Amy J. Mikell granted Babich's Motion for Summary Judgment by Order dated July 19, 2021. R. at pp. 6-9. The basis for the Magistrate Mikell's ruling denying Crawford's Motion for Summary Judgment was that, while the "end of [a] lease term" is not expressly stated as grounds under Section 27-47-530 MHPTA to terminate a tenancy subject to the

MHPTA, the provision and effect of subsection (A)(8) of MHPTA Section 27-47-530, providing for termination for "other reason sufficient under common law." R. at p. 8. The Magistrate further noted MHPTA section 27-47-110 provided that the MHPTA was subject to the Chapter 40 the Residential Landlord and Tenant Act (S.C. Code §§ 27-40-20, *et seq.* (the "RLTA") "if such application was not inconsistent with or contrary to the provisions of the MHPTA. *Id.* Therefore, the Magistrate reasoned that Crawford could be ejected for termination of the lease term upon receipt of prior 30 day written notice, as provided for under RLTA Section 27-40-770(b) ("A landlord or tenant may terminate a month-to-month tenancy by a written notice given to the other at least thirty days before the termination dated specified in the notice."). *Id.*

In granting summary judgment to Babich by Order dated July 19, 2021, the Magistrate noted that there was no factual dispute over the propriety of the March 17, 2020 email notice of month-to-month tenancy termination. R. at p. 7. The Magistrate applied the same rationale in denying Crawford's contention that he could not, as a matter of law, be ejected from his month-to-month tenancy subject to the MHPTA on the grounds that the lease term was at an end. R. at pp. 8-9. Finding that the dual bases that tenancies under the MHPTA may be terminated for "other reason sufficient under common law" (Section 27-47-530(A)(8) and that the MHPTA was subject to the RLTA as long as the RLTA was not contradicted by the MHPTA, Magistrate Mikell ruled Babich had complied with the MHPTA and RLTA and was hence entitled to a Writ of Ejectment. *Id.*

In granting leave to seek a Writ of Ejectment, the Magistrate also considered that

Crawford's second argument that under MHPTA Section 27-47-220, a manufactured home park owner was obligated to act in good faith and that certain emails between the parties allegedly showed Babich's bad faith over the course of Crawford's tenancy. R. at pp. 8-9. The Magistrate ruled that it was not making any finding as to whether Babich had shown bad faith in seeking an ejectment. R. at p. 9 (July 19, 2021 Order, fn. 6). The Magistrate further ruled, as MHPTA Section 27-47-220 is silent on what remedy is appropriate in instances of park owner bad faith, that an absolute bar on ejectments was not an appropriate remedy even for violations of MHPTA Section 27-47-220's requirement that a park owner act in good faith. R. at p. 8

The Circuit Court Appeal

After the Magistrate signed a Writ of Ejectment on August 10, 2021, Crawford filed an Appeal to the Court of Common Pleas on August 11, 2021 and a Bond to Stay Execution of the Writ of Ejectment. R. at pp. 73-79. The Return of Magistrate Mikell was filed on September 16, 2021, and a hearing on Crawford's Appeal was heard by Circuit Judge Dennis on April 19, 2022. R. at pp.12, 107.

By Order dated April 26, 2022, Circuit Judge Dennis denied Crawford's appeal without comment on the rationale. Judge Dennis further stayed execution of the Writ of Ejectment for 90 day on Respondent's consent. R. at pp[. 10-12. On May 6, 2022, Crawford timely filed a Notice of Appeal of Judge Dennis' April 26, 2022. R. at pp. 98-100. On June 2, 2022, this Court granted the Motion of Appellant's counsel to withdraw and granted a supersedes of the Writ of Ejectment subject to Appellant's obligation to

continue rent payments to the Respondent. R. at p. 96. Appellant filed his Initial Brief on July 5, 2022, and by Order dated September 13, 2022, Respondent's time to file Respondent's Initial Brief was extended to October 10, 2022.

DISPUTE OF APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent does not admit and disputes the Appellant's following contentions:

1. That Appellant cannot move his mobile home without a governmental permit;
2. That Appellant cannot obtain a permit to move his manufactured home if a governmental permit to move said property is required;
3. That prohibitive costs prevent Appellant from moving his manufactured home; and
4. All allegations related to the summoning of jurors.

Respondent respectfully submits that no findings were made by the courts below on these alleged factual contentions and, consequently, issues related to these matters are not properly before this Court for consideration on appeal. . *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transportation*, 361 S.C. 9, 23-24, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Respondent does not dispute the Appellant's position that S.C. Code Section 18-1-170 applies to this Appeal.

ARGUMENT

- I. **THE COURTS BELOW PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT APPELLANT'S MONTH-TO-MONTH TENANCY COULD BE TERMINATED BY THE RESPONDENT FOLLOWING SERVICE OF PROPER ADVANCE WRITTEN 30-DAYS NOTICE OF A DATE OF TERMINATION**

The logical conclusion of Appellant's argument in this appeal is that under the MHPTA, a lessee of space in a manufactured home park can never be evicted on the grounds that the term of his or her lease has expired. Respondent does not dispute that the MHPTA generally applies to the issues raised on this appeal as Appellant owns a manufactured home situated a manufactured home park owned and operated by the Respondent. However, there is no basis for the proposition that MHPTA Section 27-47-530 prohibits evictions where a lease term has expired. As noted by the Magistrate Court, MHPTA Section 27-47-530 does not list the expiration date of a lease term as an express reason to terminate a lease. However, it does contain an express reason that an ejectment may be had for any reason "sufficient under the common law" of South Carolina to eject a tenant otherwise subject to the MHPTA. Indeed, in exacting the MHPTA, the Legislature expressly provided that persons under the jurisdiction of the MHPTA were subject to provisions of the South Carolina Residential Landlord and Tenant Act¹ (the "RLTA") so long as the RLTA did not contradict the MHPTA. S.C. Code Ann. § 110.

Accordingly, in situations where proper advance written notice of a lease or tenancy termination has been provided by the landlord to the tenant in a manufactured

² The MHPTA was enacted well after the enactment of the RLTA and it may be presumed that the Legislature was well aware of and approved of the provisions under the RLTA that provided a tenant can be ejected upon proper 30-day written advance notice following expiration of lease term. If the Legislature intended that lessees of parcels in manufactured home parks be granted the right to occupy those parcels indefinitely so long as they did not violate other provisions in MHPTA Section 27-47-530, then it would be expected that such additional rights would be founds in MHPTA Section 27-47-530. No such inclusion was made to MHPTA Section 27-47-530.

home park, the Legislature has codified that a month to month tenancy may be lawfully terminated on 30-days advance written notice to the tenant. Herein, S.C. Code Ann. § 27-35-110 provides: "A tenancy from month to month may be ended by either party giving the other written notice of thirty days to the effect that such tenancy shall be then terminated. No such tenancy shall ripen into a tenancy from year to year." *Id.* Here, Appellant has conceded that he received proper 30-day advance written notice on March 17, 2020 that Appellant's tenancy was ending on May 1, 2020. {Appellant's Brief, p. 3}. Respondent's Application for Ejectment was filed on July 15, 2020. Accordingly, all of the statutory requirements for a valid ejectment were met, and there was no error in the Magistrate Court and Circuit Court rulings that Respondent was properly entitled to a Writ of Ejectment against the Appellant.

II. THE APPELLANT'S ALLEGATIONS THAT RESPONDENT HAS ACTED IN BAD FAITH ARE NOT REVIEWABLE ISSUES OR APPLICABLE ON THIS APPEAL

Appellant's Brief cites that the MHPTA imposes a duty upon the owner/landlord of manufactured home park to act in "good faith." S.C. Code Ann. § 220. Appellant further alleges that emails between the parties concerning multiple subjects over many years is evidence of Respondent's alleged bad faith.

However, in the Magistrate's July 19, 2022 Order granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, which is the only Order that the Circuit Judge reviewed and hence the only Order that is the subject of this Appeal, the Magistrate expressly stated that "Whether or not the Plaintiff (Babich) acted in good faith, thereby violating his duty under section 27-47-220 is a matter of fact. However, it is a matter of law as to what

remedy applies to the any alleged breach of section 27-47-220. This Court makes no findings whether Plaintiff acted in bad faith.” R. at p. 8. Magistrate Mikell further noted that “[A]n absolute bar to eviction is not the appropriate remedy for any actions taken by Plaintiff that are alleged to be in bad faith and in violation of section 27-47-220.” *Id.*

The absence of any factual findings on the issue of the alleged bad faith of the Respondent precludes appellate review of the same. *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transportation*, 361 S.C. 9, 23-24, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004). Moreover, the duty of good faith set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 27-47-220, directed to the owner or landlord’s obligations in Article III subsections 37-47-410 to 27-47-470, expressly apply to a landlord’s duty to provide means of serving notice upon the landlord (subsection 420); giving proper notice of lease rate increases (subsection 420); maintaining aesthetic standards (subsection 430); reasonably approving new purchasers (subsection 440); providing equal access to common area facilities (subsection 450); duty to maintain safety over areas of landlord’s control (subsection 460) and maintaining cleanliness (subsection 470). Nothing therein closely approximates grounds to contend that some extra duty of good faith to extend a lease indefinitely should apply to situations where a term of lease has expired or the tenant is under a month-to-month tenancy.

Accordingly, it is respectfully submitted that the issue of the Respondent’s alleged bad faith is not before this Court on appeal nor relevant to the ejection of a tenant whose lease term has expired; therefore, Appellant’s arguments thereabout must be denied.


Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the decision of the Circuit Court should be affirmed.